| 1 | IN THE SUPREME COUR | T OF THE STATE OF NEVADA |
|----|---|---|
| 2 | | |
| 3 | | |
| 4 | JOSHUA CALEB SHUE, |) NO. 67428 |
| 5 | Appellant, |) |
| 6 | |) |
| 7 | vs. | |
| 8 | THE STATE OF NEVADA, |) |
| 9 | | |
| 10 | Respondent. |) |
| 11 | | |
| 12 | APPELLANT'S | S OPENING BRIEF |
| 13 | PHILIP J. KOHN | STEVEN B. WOLFSON |
| 14 | CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 | CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY 200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor |
| 15 | Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 | Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 |
| 16 | (702) 455-4685 | (702) 455-4711 |
| 17 | Attorney for Appellant | ADAM LAXALT |
| 18 | Y Primaries | Attorney General |

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. NRS 200.700(4), 200.710(2), 200.730 are unconstitutional; II. Appellant's redundant convictions violate Due Process; III. The district court failed to instruct the jury on essential elements of the charged crimes and Appellant's theory of defense; IV. Prosecutorial misconduct violated Appellant's Due Process right to a fair trial; V. The district court's evidentiary decisions violated Appellant's Due Process right to a fair trial; VI. The Indictment failed to provide Appellant with adequate notice allowing the State to change its theory of prosecution; VII. As a matter of law Appellant did not create or possess child pornography; VIII. The State presented insufficient evidence of guilt; IX. Cumulative error warrants reversal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2013, the State of Nevada presented evidence to the grand jury concerning images and videos discovered on Appellant's laptop computer. AA I 38-109. The grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant with: one count of Child Abuse & Neglect; 29 counts of Use of Child in Production of Pornography; 10 counts of Possession of Visual

Presentation Depicting Sexual Conduct of a Child; and one count of Open and Gross Lewdness.¹ AA I 1-13.

On March 28, 2013, Appellant appeared in district court, entered a not guilty plea, and waived his right to a speedy trial. AA II 343. The court scheduled calendar call for October 3, 2013, and jury trial for October 7, 2013.² Id. at 343-44.

Appellant filed a pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus arguing, among other things, that the grand jury was not properly instructed and as a matter of law the images at issue were not child pornography. AA I 128-30. The court heard argument and denied Appellant's petition. AA II 346-47.

Appellant also filed a Motion in Limine seeking to preclude the State from mentioning that the case began "as a sexual complaint." AA I 168. The court granted Appellant's motion. AA II 348. Appellant filed a Motion for Individual Voir Dire of jurors which was denied. AA I 173, AA II 349. Additionally, Appellant filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination of the

Appellant was originally charged in the Las Vegas Justice Court with one gross misdemeanor count of capturing image of private area of another person in violation of NRS 200.604. AA I 18. The State filed two amended criminal complaints in the Justice Court which were dismissed after the grand jury indictment. <u>Id.</u>; AA II 342.

The court later continued Appellant's trial. AA III 538.

alleged victim³ (AA I 183); a Motion for Discovery (<u>Id</u>. at 213); and a Motion to Dismiss based upon inadequate notice.⁴ AA II 254.

In his discovery motion, Appellant alleged the Clark County District Attorney's Office made payments to the alleged victim, H.I. <u>Id</u>. at 213. The court held a hearing regarding the allegations and ruled that the District Attorney did not make any payments to H.I. <u>Id</u>. at 358.

H.I. attempted suicide before trial. AA I 229. In response, the State sought a ruling prohibiting Appellant from questioning H.I. regarding her mental health status. <u>Id</u>. The court withheld ruling until trial. AA II 360. At trial, the court granted the State's motion. AA VI 1092.

Trial began on August 25, 2014, and ended on August 29, 2014. AA II 364, 373. The jury found Appellant guilty of all counts. <u>Id</u>. at 321-28. The court sentenced Appellant to life in prison with parole eligibility after 10 years.⁵ AA VIII1497. The court filed the Judgment of Conviction on January 21, 2015. AA II 330.

³ The court denied Appellant's motion. AA II 351.

⁴ Appellant argued the Indictment failed to allege dates for many of the charged offenses. <u>Id</u>. at 254. The court denied Appellant's motion. <u>Id</u>. at 361.

⁵ Although Appellant was convicted of 41 counts, the court ran almost all the sentences concurrent to each other. Because the 29 counts of use of a child in production of pornography carried a sentence of 10 to life, and all the charges ran concurrent to these charges, Appellant's total sentence is 10 years to life. AA II 331-34.

On February 5, 2015, trial counsel moved to withdraw from Appellant's case and requested the district court appoint the Clark County Public Defender's Office to represent Appellant for appeal. AA VIII 1520. The court granted the request. AA VIII 1521. Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal on February 12, 2015. AA II 337.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Between 2010 and 2012, H.I. lived in Las Vegas, Nevada with her mother Anita and her two younger brothers C.I. and F.I. AA VI 1036. Appellant and Anita were in a dating relationship. <u>Id</u>. at 1037. Although Appellant had a separate residence, he would occasionally stay for extended periods at Anita's apartment. <u>Id</u>. at 1038.

On August 22, 2012, H.I. returned home after a date with her boyfriend. <u>Id</u>. at 1040. H.I. encountered Appellant in the kitchen where Appellant allegedly took a photograph under her skirt with a small digital camera. <u>Id</u>. Later that evening H.I. alleged Appellant kissed her. <u>Id</u>. at 1043.

The next day, H.I. contacted police. <u>Id</u>. at 1044. Detective Ryan Jaeger interviewed H.I. and then met with and interviewed Appellant. AA V 950-51. According to Jaeger, Appellant admitted to kissing H.I. "on the cheek" but denied the kiss was romantic. <u>Id</u>. at 953. Jaeger also claimed Appellant admitted to taking the picture up H.I.'s skirt but that he was just

"playing around." <u>Id</u>. Jaeger claimed Appellant admitted he found H.I. attractive, but would never act on those feelings. <u>Id</u>. at 957. Jaeger also claimed Appellant denied taking any other photographs of H.I. <u>Id</u>. at 973. However, Appellant advised if police looked through his laptop computer they would find "some things that are not on the up and up." <u>Id</u>. at 973.

Jaeger drafted an affidavit for a search warrant for Appellant's house.

Id. The warrant authorized seizure of any electronic media found within Appellant's bedroom.⁶ Id. at 842. Police ultimately seized Appellant's laptop computer, video camera, digital camera, and some disposable cameras.

Id. at 850.

Detective Vincente Ramirez forensically examined the laptop, digital camera, and Appellant's cell phone. ⁷ <u>Id.</u> at 863. Ramirez recovered a deleted, "picture up the female's dress" from the digital camera's memory card. <u>Id.</u> at 865. On the laptop, Ramirez located several photographic images of nude males. <u>Id.</u> at 872.

The images were admitted at trial as State's exhibits 3 – 11 and 75.

AA V 872. Exhibit 3 pertained to count 40 in the Indictment and depicted one male performing oral sex on another male. <u>Id</u>. at 913; AA I 12. Exhibit

⁶ Other persons resided in the house with Appellant. The warrant only authorized police to search Appellant's room. AA V 842.

⁷ Ramirez did not recover anything of evidentiary value from Appellant's cell phone. <u>Id</u>. at 864.

15 16

17

18 19

20 21

22

24

23

25

26 27

28

4 depicted a different male "under the age of 16 nude in the shower exposing his penis and buttocks area." Id. at 872. Exhibit 6 depicted the same male in exhibit 4, "laying prone on the bed exposing his penis." Id. The record is unclear regarding the substance of Exhibits 10, 11, and 75. However, Ramirez alleged the same boy was depicted in Exhibits 4, 6, 10, 11, and 75. AA V 948. The boy was allegedly 12 years old at the time the photographs were taken. Id. Exhibits 4, 6, 10, 11, and 75 pertained to count 41 in the indictment. AA I 12.

Ramirez also recovered numerous video files located within two "hidden" folders on the laptop. Id. at 874, 877. The folders were labeled "Ymmm" and "Hmmm." Id. at 876. According to H.I., the videos were surreptitious recordings of her and her brother C.I. using the bathroom at their apartment.⁸ See AA VI 1045-83.

Video 0058 depicted both H.I. and C.I. taking showers at separate times. Id. at 1046-49. H.I. believed C.I. was 12 years when the video was recorded and she was 15 years old. Id. at 1045, 1049. Video 0058 pertained to counts 3-5 of the Indictment. AA I 2-3. Video 0031 depicted H.I. preparing to take a shower. <u>Id</u>. at 1050-52. Later, C.I. is seen using the

⁸ The State admitted all the videos as Exhibit 1 at trial. AA VI 1045.

9 H.I. did not know how old she was in the video 0002. <u>Id</u>. at 1070.

toilet and showering as well. <u>Id</u>. H.I. was 16 years old in the video and C.I. was 13. <u>Id</u>. Video 0031 pertained to counts 6-8 of the Indictment. AA I 3-4.

Videos 0005, 0007, 0006, 0057, 0089, 0124, basically depicted both H.I. and C.I. using the bathroom at separate times. <u>Id</u>. at 1052-63. In each video H.I. was approximately 16 years old and C.I. was around 13 years old. <u>Id</u>. File 0005 pertained to counts 9-11 of the Indictment. AA I 4. File 0007 pertained to counts 12-14 of the Indictment. <u>Id</u>. at 5. File 0006 pertained to counts 15-17 of the Indictment. <u>Id</u>. at 5-6. File 0057 pertained to counts 18-20 of the Indictment. <u>Id</u>. at 6-7. File 0089 pertained to counts 21-23 of the Indictment. <u>Id</u>. at 7-8. File 0124 pertained to counts 24-26 of the Indictment. <u>Id</u>. at 8-9.

Videos 0073, 0075, and 002, depicted H.I. using the shower. AA VI 1066-67. H.I. was 16 years old in the videos 0073 and 0075.

1d. at 1067. Video 0073 pertained to count 27 of the Indictment. AA I 9. Video 0075 pertained to count 28 of the Indictment.

1d. Video 0002 pertained to count 29 of the Indictment. Id. Video 0002 pertained to count 29 of the Indictment. Id. at 9-10.

Video 0002214847 depicted H.I. shaving her legs. AA VI 1072. H.I. alleged she was 15 years old in the video. <u>Id</u>. Video 0002214847 pertained to count 30 of the Indictment. AA I 10. Video 0011214856 depicted H.I. in

the bathroom. AA VI 1072. H.I. was 16 years old in the video. <u>Id</u>. at 1074. File 0011214856 pertained to count 31 of the Indictment. AA I 10. Video 0013214858 depicted H.I. using the shower. AA VI 1076. H.I. claims she was 15 years old in the video. <u>Id</u>. File 0013214858 pertained to count 32 of the Indictment. AA I 10. Video 0015214860 depicted H.I. in the bathroom using a feminine hygiene product. AA VI 1078. H.I. was 16 years old in the video. <u>Id</u>. at 1077. File 0015214860 pertained to count 33 of the Indictment. AA I 10-11.

Videos 0016, 0026, 0044, 0027214872, and 0030214875, all depicted H.I. in the apartment bathroom. AA VI 1076-83. H.I. believed she was 16 years old in videos, however, was unsure how old she was in video 0026. Id. at 1080. File 0016 pertained to count 34 of the Indictment. AA I 11. Files 0026 and 0027214872 pertained to count 36 of the Indictment. Id. File 0044 pertained to count 38 of the Indictment. Id. at 12. File 0030214875 pertained to count 37 of the Indictment. Id. at 11-12.

Video 0025214870 depicted H.I. in the bathroom of a hotel in California. AA VI 1079. H.I. was 16 years old in the video. <u>Id</u>. File 0025214870 pertained to count 35 of the Indictment. AA I 11.

According to H.I., Appellant appeared briefly at the beginning of videos 0058, 0031, 0057, 0073, 0075, 0011214856, 0013214858,

0025214870, 0026, 0030214875, and 0044, manipulating the camera before H.I. or C.I. used the bathroom. See AA VI 1046, 1049, 1058, 1066, 1068, 1073-74, 1079, 1081-82.

H.I. would periodically spend the weekends at her maternal grandaunt, Frances Carreon's ("Carreon"), condo. <u>Id</u>. at 1141. Carreon noted during 2012, H.I. and Anita were not getting along. <u>Id</u>. While staying with Carreon H.I. never disclosed that Appellant had done anything inappropriate to her. <u>Id</u>. at 1146. Once, Carreon caught H.I. taking nude photographs of herself. <u>Id</u>. at 1150. Based upon her interactions with H.I., Carreon believed H.I.'s reputation for truthfulness was "bad." <u>Id</u>. at 1142.

Lastly, Carreon had seen H.I. with Appellant's laptop computer. <u>Id</u>. at 1152. Carreon did not believe Appellant took the videos of H.I. and C.I. <u>Id</u>. at 1148-49. Instead, Carreon believed H.I. made the videos and put them on Appellant's computer. <u>Id</u>. at 1148-49.

F.I., H.I.'s youngest brother, noted Appellant never did anything inappropriate towards him, H.I. or C.I. <u>Id</u>. at 1164. F.I. confirmed H.I. used Appellant's computer periodically and once witnessed H.I. taking nude photos of herself in her bedroom. <u>Id</u>., 1166-67. Like Carreon, F.I. believed H.I. was generally untruthful. <u>Id</u>. at 1165.

10

11 12

13

1.4 15

16

17

18

19 20

21 22

23 24

25

26

27

28

According to Anita, H.I. was adept at using cameras and computers. AA VII 1192. Anita also believed H.I. was jealous and resentful of Anita's relationship with Appellant. Id. at 1189. Anita did not believe H.I.'s allegations against Appellant. Id. at 1208-09. In fact, after Appellant's arrest Anita found a flash drive in H.I.'s bedroom containing the same images allegedly recovered from Appellant's laptop. Id. at 1201-02. Thereafter, Anita refused to cooperate with Jaeger. Id. In response, Jaeger threatened to remove Anita's children from the home unless Anita implicated Appellant in the charged crimes. Id. at 1208-09. Jaeger also pressured H.I. to cooperate after she expressed reluctance to testify at trial. Id.

C.I. advised Appellant never did anything improper to any of the children. Id. at 1248. C.I. confirmed that H.I. capably used computers, video cameras, and social media, and once witnessed H.I. downloading photos onto Appellant's computer. Id. at 1249-50, 1264. C.I. believed H.I.'s reputation for truthfulness was "[n]ot so good." Id. at 1251.

While dating Anita, Appellant maintained his separate residence in Henderson, NV. Id. at 1282. Around Christmas 2010, Appellant began spending more time with Anita and her children at their apartment. <u>Id</u>. Accordingly, Appellant helped Anita and her children financially. Id. at 1284.

 Appellant got along well with H.I., C.I., and F.I. <u>Id</u>. However, Appellant noticed H.I. and Anita had a contentious relationship. <u>Id</u>. at 1281. Appellant believed H.I. was "resentful" of Anita and the resentment caused "conflict within the household." <u>Id</u>. Appellant described H.I. as a "troubled teen" whose could be dishonest at times. <u>Id</u>. at 1290.

Appellant purchased two laptop computers while dating Anita. <u>Id</u>. at 1285-86. The children used one and Appellant and Anita used the other. <u>Id</u>. at 1286. H.I. used the children's computer often to update social media sites. <u>Id</u>. at 1287. Appellant believed H.I. was extremely sophisticated with technology and computers. <u>Id</u>. at 1288.

Appellant denied making the videos of H.I. and C.I. in the bathroom and had not even seen the videos prior to trial. <u>Id</u>. at 1292. Likewise, Appellant denied downloading the images of the unknown males which were allegedly recovered from his laptop and had not seen the images prior to trial. <u>Id</u>. at 1291-92. However, Appellant periodically videotaped himself having sexual intercourse with Anita in the bathroom. <u>Id</u>. at 1294. Appellant believed portions of the videos at issue at trial were the part of videos he made with Anita. <u>Id</u>. Appellant believed H.I. edited the images of her and C.I. into the videos of Appellant and Anita and placed the edited videos on Appellant's laptop. <u>Id</u>. at 1293, 1294.

Appellant admitted taking the photograph under H.I.'s skirt. <u>Id</u>. at 1297-98. However, Appellant only did so to show H.I. she was dressed too risqué. <u>Id</u>. At H.I.'s request, Appellant immediately deleted the photo. <u>Id</u>. at 1298. Appellant denied ever kissing H.I. on the mouth. <u>Id</u>. at 1309, 1318.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nevada child pornography laws prohibit using minors as the subject of a sexual portrayal in a performance and possessing images of a minor as the subject of a sexual portrayal in a performance. These laws violate the First Amendment of the United States Constitution because the definition of "sexual portrayal" does not require the images depict any sexual conduct. Therefore, the laws are: (1) content based restrictions upon speech and expression; (2) overbroad, and (3) vague. If the laws are constitutional, however, as a matter of law none of the videos or images depicted sexual conduct involving children.¹⁰

Additionally, the district court also committed numerous trial errors. First, the court refused to instruct the jury regarding essential elements of the charged crimes and Appellant's theory of defense. Moreover, the court's evidentiary decisions denied Appellant his constitutional right to a fair trial.

The image at issue in count 40 would qualify as child pornography provided the person in the photograph is less than 16 years of age and actually performing fellatio. AA I 12.

The court further violated Appellant's due process rights when it convicted and sentenced him for separate counts of creating child pornography based upon a single image.

The State also violated Appellant's right to a fair trial by first impermissibly arguing the incorrect legal definition regarding an essential element of the charged crimes. Additionally, the State's inadequate pleading allowed it to impermissibly change its theory of prosecution during trial. Lastly, for each and every charge the State failed to present any evidence whatsoever to support its allegations.

Each and every one of the aforementioned error mandates reversal.

Thus, the cumulative effect of these errors certainly deprived Appellant of his

Constitutional right to a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

I. Nevada laws prohibiting using a minor as the subject of a sexual portrayal in a performance are unconstitutional

NRS 200.710 and 200.730 prohibit producing and possessing images of minors as the subject of a "sexual portrayal" in a performance. These laws are unconstitutional because they are: (1) content based restrictions upon speech; (2) overbroad; and (3) vague. This Court reviews the constitutionality of a statute de novo. Silvar v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 122 Nev. 289, 292, 129 P.3d 682, 684 (2006).

The First Amendment is applicable to the states via the due process clause of the 14th Amendment. Woloson v. Sheriff, 93 Nev. 283, 284, 564 P.2d 603 (1977).

1. Nevada laws prohibiting using a minor as the subject of a sexual portrayal in a performance are content-based restrictions upon speech or expression.

The First Amendment prohibits the government from criminalizing speech or expressive conduct because it disapproves of the ideas expressed. See R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul, Minn, 505 U.S. 377, 382 (1992). Therefore, "content based regulations are presumptively invalid." <u>Id</u>.

Creating and possessing nude images of children, without more, is protected by the First Amendment. N.Y. v. Ferber, 485 U.S. 747, 766, fn. 18 (1982)(citing Erznoznik v. City of Jacksonville, 422 U.S. 205 (1975)).

Accordingly, "laws directed at the dissemination of child pornography run the risk of suppressing protected expression by allowing the hand of the censor to become unduly heavy." Ferber, 485 U.S. at 756; see also U.S. v. Williams, 533 U.S. 285, 289 (2008)("[t]he broad authority to proscribe child pornography is not...unlimited."); Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition, 535 U.S. 234, 251 (2002)("where the speech is neither obscene nor the product of sexual abuse, it does not fall outside the protection of the First Amendment.")).

In accordance with the First Amendment, State laws prohibiting child pornography must: (1) adequately define the prohibited conduct; (2) limit the prohibition to works that visually depict sexual conduct of children below a specified age; (3) suitably limit and describe "the category of sexual conduct proscribed;" and (4) require an element of "scienter on the part of the defendant." Ferber, 458 U.S. at 764-65.

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