IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSHUA CALEB SHUE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 04 2015 01:30 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 67428

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM M. WATERS Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009456 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

D. Prurient Instruction

Shue claims that by not defining the term "prurient interest" in the jury instructions, the State was able to impermissible argue the wrong definition of "prurient interest." AOB 40. Although Shue did not seek an instruction defining the term, he argues that the district court erred by not including such an instruction. Id. Generally, a defendant's failure to clearly object on the record to a jury instruction precludes appellate review. Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). However, this Court has the discretion to review an instructional error absent an objection for plain error. Rossana v. State, 113 Nev. 375, 382, 934 P.2d 1045, 1049 (1997).

28

Here, the district court's instructions on the use of a child as a subject of a sexual portrayal included each of the requisite elements. 2 AA 308. Although the term "prurient interest" was not defined in the instructions, the term has an ordinarily understood meaning, and it is not readily apparent that the term requires further definition in order for a jury to find sufficient evidence to support this element. Doyle v. State, 112 Nev. 879, 899, 921 P.2d 901, 914 (1996) (holding that it was not plain error to fail to sua sponte define a "person" as a living person in a sexual assault case even though the definition of the term was unsettled at the time in Nevada and such an instruction would have been appropriate had it been sought), overruled on other grounds by Kaczmarek v. State, 120 Nev. 314, 333, 91 P.3d 16, 29 (2004). Any ordinary juror would understand the term "prurient" as relating to lust or lascivious desire. Webster's Encyclopedic Unabridged Dictionary (1996) p. 1558. Therefore, it was not plain error not to include an instruction defining "prurient interest."

E. Proposed Defense Instruction E

Instruction E reads:

It is unlawful to capture the private image of another person without their consent when such persons had a reasonable expectation of privacy. If you find the Defendant did not commit the crime of use of a child in production of pornography or possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a child, you may find him guilty of the *lesser included offense of capturing the private image of another person without their consent.* 8 AA 268. (emphasis added)

She concedes he offered this instruction as a lesser-included offense. AOB 41. Shue admits that Capturing the Private Image of Another is not a lesser-included offense of Use of a Child in Production of Pornography or Possession of a Visual Presentation Depicting Sexual Conduct of a Child. <u>Id.</u> Instruction E was correctly denied as an incorrect statement of the law. <u>Barron</u>, 105 Nev. at 773, 783 P.2d at, 448. Instruction E specifically defined Capturing the Private Image of Another Person as a lesser-included offense, which it is not. The court properly found that Instruction E to be an incorrect statement of the law. 8 AA 1363-1364.

Shue's now argues that the instruction was a theory of defense instruction. Since, Shue never offered this argument below, this Court need not consider it. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); <u>Guy v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 58 (1992), <u>cert. denied.</u>, 507 U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991). Admittedly, a possible defense theory is that a defendant is not guilty of the offense charged but is guilty of a lesser-included offense. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 530, 531, 665 P.2d 260, 261 (1983). In this case, Capturing the Private Image of Another Person is not a lesser-included offense, therefore, it is not a theory of defense. <u>See</u>, <u>Wilson</u>, 121 Nev. at 349, 114 P.3d at 288. This Court has held that a lesser included defense theory is not only unnecessary but is erroneous in cases where; (1) the evidence would not support a finding of guilt of the lesser offense or degree; (2) the defendant denies any complicity in the crime charged and thus lays no foundation for any intermediate verdict; or (3) where the elements of the defenses differ, and some element essential to the lesser offense is either not proved or shown not to exist. <u>Lisby v. State</u>, 82 Nev. 183, 187, 414 P.2d 592, 595 (1966).

In this case, the district court properly concluded that the element of Capturing the Private Image of Another Person and the charged offenses where different. 8 AA 1363. There is an additional element of consent in the offense of Capturing the Private Image of Another Person. <u>Id.</u> Additionally, at trial Shue's theory of defense was that Shue did not take those videos, had no idea that the camera was there, and did not know that the images were on his computer. 8 AA 1369-1370. Hence, he denied any complicity in the crime charged and layed no foundation for any intermediate verdict. <u>Lisby</u>, 82 Nev. at 187, 414 P.2d at 595. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion denying Instruction E.

E. Any Error Was Harmless

Jury instruction errors are subject to a harmless-error analysis if they do not involve the type of errors, which vitiates all the jury's findings and produces consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate. <u>Cortinas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 124 Nev. 1013, 1015, 195 P.3d 315, 316 (2008), <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527

U.S. 1, 9, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 1834 (1999) (cases involving improper instructions on a single element of the offense are reviewed under harmless error analysis). Where a jury-instruction error is not structural in form and effect, this Court reviews for harmless error improper instructions omitting, misdescribing, or presuming an element of an offense. <u>Collman v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 687, 722, 7 P.3d 426, 449 (2000). An error is harmless when it is clear that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. <u>Neder</u>, 527 U.S. at 18, 119 S. Ct. at 1838.

In this case, it is clear that a rational jury would have found Shue guilty absent any error because the jury was properly instructed on crime of the Use of a Child in Production and Possession of Visual Presentation Depicting Sexual Conduct of a Child. Additionally, the jury was ultimately instructed on the definition of "prurient interest" during the State's closing. 8 AA 1449.¹⁵ Therefore, any error if it existed was harmless.

IV. THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

A. Standard of Review

Shue claims that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it improperly defined prurient interest and improperly characterized a witness's

¹⁵ In his brief Shue alleges that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it defined "prurient interest" incorrectly. The proper definition of "prurient interest" is discussed *infra*.

testimony as a lie. AOB 42-43. As Shue concedes, these claims were not properly preserved for appeal. Therefore, these claims are reviewed for plain error. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1109 (2002) (where a defendant fails to offer a contemporaneous objection, this Court will only review claims of prosecutorial misconduct for plain error).

This Court applies a two-step analysis to claims of prosecutorial misconduct. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). This Court first determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and second, whether the conduct warrants reversal. <u>Id.</u> "A prosecutor's comments should be considered in context, and 'a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001) (quoting <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S. Ct. 1038 (1985)). Moreover, "this Court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476.

The State Correctly Define "Prurient"

Shue complains that the State improperly argued that prurient interest in sex means appeals to the lustful thoughts or desires of a person. AOB 43. Shue cites to <u>Brockett v. Spokane Aracades</u>, 472 U.S. 491, 105 S.Ct. 2794 for the proposition that a prurient interest in sex cannot be merely the lustful thought or desires of a person. In <u>Brockett</u>, a moral nuisance law defined prurient to mean, "that which incites

lasciviousness or lust" <u>Id.</u> at 494, 105 S.Ct. at 2797. Several individuals and corporations challenged the constitutionality of the statute by asserting that the definition of "prurient" was unconstitutionally overbroad. <u>Id.</u> Specifically, they argued that the definition reached material that aroused only normal and healthy interest in sex. <u>Id.</u> Court of Appeals held that by including "lust" in its definition, the state legislature had intended the statute to reach material that merely stimulated normal sexual responses. <u>Id.</u> at 495, 105 S.Ct. 2797.

The Court of Appeals was of the view that neither Roth, nor later cases should be read to include within the definition of obscenity those materials that appeal to only normal sexual appetites. Id. at 496, 105 S.Ct. 2798. The Court of Appeals was aware that Roth indicated that material appealing to the prurient interest was "material having a tendency to excite lustful thought", but felt that Roth did not intend to characterize as obscene material that provoked only normal, healthy sexual desires. Id. However, The U.S. Supreme Court reversed holding that by using the words "lustful thoughts" Roth was referring to sexual responses over and beyond those that would be characterized as normal. Id. at 598, 105 S.Ct. 2799. The U.S. Supreme Court concluded that the statute could be invalidated only in so far as the word "lust" is taken to include normal interest in sex. Id. at 504-05, 105 S.Ct. at 2802. The U.S. Supreme Court's conclusion is bolstered by a number of cases defining obscenity in terms of "lust" or "lustful." See, Parmelee v. United States,

72 App. D. C. 203, 210, 113 F.2d 729, 736 (1940) (material is protected if "the erotic matter is not introduced to promote lust"); United States v. One Book Called "Ulysses," 5 F.Supp 182, 184 (SDNY 1933) (meaning of the word "obscene" is "[tending] to stir the sex impulses or to lead to sexually impure and lustful thoughts"); Missouri v. Becker, 364 Mo. 1079, 1085, 272 S. W. 2d 283, 286 (1954) (materials are obscene if they "incite lascivious thoughts, arouse lustful desire"); <u>Adams Theatre Co. v. Keenan</u>, 12 N. J. 267, 272, 96 A. 2d 519, 521 (1953) (question is whether "dominant note of the presentation is erotic allurement 'tending to excite lustful and lecherous desire"); Commonwealth v. Isenstadt, 318 Mass. 543, 549-550, 62 N. E. 2d 840, 844 (1945) (material is obscene if it has "a substantial tendency to deprave or corrupt its readers by inciting lascivious thoughts or arousing lustful desire"); Therefore, the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct because it provided the proper definition of prurient interest. Under the plain error standard, the definition provided by the State is not plain error because a casual inspection of the record would show that prurient interest was correctly defined.

B. The State Did Not Call Anita a Liar

The State did not call Anita a liar. During its rebuttal closing, the State argued:

The credibility or believability of a witness should be determined by his or her manner upon the stand, his relationship to the parties, his fears, motives, interests or feelings, his opportunity to have observed the matter to which he testified, the reasonableness to his statements and the strength or weakness of the recollections.

And it says, if you believe that a witness had lied about any material fact in the case, you may disregard the entire testimony of that witness or any portion of his testimony. Well, I'm going to provide some information that would suggest that Anita lied during her testimony, and I'm going to ask you not disregard it. I'm going to ask you to take it back in the deliberation room and remember it when you're determining who was credible on the witness stand and who wasn't, and the same applies to the defendant.

8 AA 1469

In context, the State was not calling Anita a lair, but was merely commenting on the evidence presented at trial. Generally, it is impermissible for the State to assert a personal opinion or belief and assert that a witness is lying. Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724, 765 P.2d 1153, 1155 (1988). However, a prosecutor's argument regarding witness credibility is not similarly limited. Pascua v. State, 122 Nev. 1001, 145 P.3d 1031 (2006); Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 39, 39 P.3d 114, 119 (2002). A witness's credibility is a proper subject for argument. <u>Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 39, 39 P.3d at 119. Arguments concerning witness credibility are improper when they impermissibly vouch for or against a witness and inappropriately invoke the prestige of the district attorney's office. Rowland, 118 Nev. at 39; 39 P.3d at 114. A prosecutor's use of the words "lying" or "truth" does not automatically mean that prosecutorial misconduct has occurred. Id. A prosecutor may demonstrate to a jury through reference from the record that a defense witness's testimony is palpable

untrue. <u>Ross v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 924, 927, 803 P.2d 1104, 1106 (1990). The line between appropriate argument on the credibility of a witness and improper prosecutorial argument is occasionally difficult to define. <u>Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 40, 39 P.3d at 119. This Court relies primarily on the trial supervision and good judgment of the district judges and looks to them to determine when appropriate argument on witness credibility becomes improper vouching for a witness or the inappropriate use of the prosecutor's power. <u>Id.</u> In this case, the State's argument in rebuttal closing did not rise to plain error.

Unlike <u>Witherow</u>, which Shue cites in support of his claim, the State never directly called Anita a liar or stated that she is lying. 104 Nev. at 724, 765 P.2d at 1155 (the prosecutor stated that a witness had lied on the stand). In this case, there was no witness vouching, expression of personal opinion, or claim of superior knowledge. The State was making a proper argument on witness credibility and making a permissible inference from evidence presented at trial. This Court has long recognized that "[d]uring closing argument, the prosecution can argue inferences from the evidence and offer conclusions on contested issues." Jones v. State, 113 Nev. 454, 467, 937 P.2d 55, 63 (1997). Therefore, the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct. In reviewing the State's argument under the plain error standard, any error is not plain because a casual inspection of the record would show

that the State was not calling Anita a liar or inserting personal beliefs, but was making a proper argument on witness credibility.

Shue Cannot Show Prejudice.

Lastly, even assuming *arguendo*, that the State's comments were improper, Shue cannot show prejudice. To determine whether misconduct was prejudicial, this Court examines whether the statements so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to result in a denial of due process. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 37, 47, 83 P.3d 818, 825 (2004). This Court must consider such statements in context, as a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned, <u>Id.</u>

Additionally, this Court has held that "the level of misconduct necessary to reverse a conviction depends upon how strong and convincing the evidence of guilt is." <u>Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 38, 39 P.3d at 119. If the issue of guilt is not close and the State's case is strong, misconduct will not be considered prejudicial. <u>Id.</u> In this case, the evidence against Shue was overwhelming. Substantial evidence was admitted against Shue such that any alleged prosecutorial misconduct was harmless. As discussed *infra* Section VIII, overwhelming evidence established Shue's guilt. Thus, because the issue of guilt was not close, any alleged prosecutorial misconduct was harmless.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS EVIDENTIARY RULINGS

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